Annual Report of the Faculty Board of Archaeology and Anthropology on the Museum of Archaeology and Ethnology, 1958-59

9 November 1959

The Faculty Board of Archaeology and Anthropology beg leave to present to the University their Annual Report on the Museum of Archaeology and Ethnology for the year 10 October 1958 to 10 October 1959.

1. The Board thank the Honorary Keepers for their continued help, without which it would be very difficult to deal with the accessions or to make substantial improvements in the exhibits. They also wish to thank Mrs Grahame Clark for her work in cataloguing the recent accessions to the lantern-slide collection.

2. Staff. Mr W.B. Scott joined the staff as attendant and cleaner. He has been receiving instruction in lettering so that he will be able to write Museum labels.

3. Accessions. Further generous gifts of Stone Age material were received from Mr M.C. Burkitt, the Honorary Keeper, and from the Executors of the late Mr A. L. Armstrong. Additional important material from Jericho was received from the British School of Archaeology in Jerusalem; this includes some objects from the lowest horizon. The Peruvian collection was greatly enriched by examples of pottery from the Chavin, Paracas, and Recuay cultures which were purchased with grants from the Crowther-Beynon Fund. The Museum’s collection of lantern-slides was increased by the gift of about a thousand slides from Mr Burkitt.

4. Crowther-Beynon Fund. In addition to the grants mentioned in paragraph 3, grants were made for Upper Palaeolithic research and other excavations in Britain (see paragraph 13), excavations in Crete, and excavations in British Honduras under the direction of a former student of the Department.

5. Photographic Department. The demands of the Department on the services of Mr Morley continue to rise. He made 260 negatives of sites and specimens, 640 black and white lantern slides, 75 coloured ones, and 650 prints.

6. Visitors. Visitors from overseas included Professor J.O. Brew and Professor Gordon Willey from Harvard; Dr A.Era-Esko from the National Museum, Helsinki; Professor Badwyn Jarinpil and Mr Bazard of the National University of Ulan Bator, Outer Mongolia; Dr F. Matson from Pennsylvania State College; Mr K.E.Larsson from the Ethnographical Museum, Gothenburg; Dr Hans Helbaek of the National Museum, Copenhagen.

7. The Curator gave two lectures on the Pre-Columbian Art of Mexico and Peru at the Slade School, University College, London.

8. The Assistant Curator directed the excavation of an Early Iron Age site at Barley, Herts, which occupied most of the summer.

9. Exhibits and Stores. A permanent exhibit of archaeological material from Jericho was arranged in the Near Eastern Hall, and the Cyprus exhibit considerably reduced to make room for it.

In the Babington Hall the Australian exhibit was completed. Mr Lilley built a new store cupboard on top of one of the existing ones, and the space thus provided enabled Mr G.K.Roth, the Honorary Keeper, assisted by Mrs Roth, to make good progress in redesigning the Fijian exhibit.

10. Workshop. In addition to the work in connexion with exhibits and stores, Mr Lilley and Mr Allen were under constant pressure to make special apparatus, boxes, casts, and other things needed for the teaching, excavation, and research of the Department. They undertook a major task in making new shelving for the Library. The care and repair of archaeological objects claims a good deal of their time, and Mr Lilley is constantly experimenting with new methods and materials. A new departure was the development of an improved technique for making casts of stone implements.
11. **Roman Collections.** Miss J. Liversidge, the Honorary Keeper, reports that fragments of wall paintings have been received for study from Roman villas at Great Staughton (Hunts) and Landwade (Exning, Suffolk). She has published the following:


12. **Duckworth Laboratory (Osteological Collections).** In August 1959 the Director spent a fortnight at the Basle Natural History Museum studying the complete skeleton of the Lower Pliocene primate *Oreopithecus bambolii* Gervais, excavated by Dr Johannes Hurzeler, Keeper of the Museum’s Osteological Collections, in Tuscany during the previous summer and now freed from its lignite matrix. While in Switzerland he was also able to examine the original specimens of *Parapithecus fraasi* Schlosser and *Propliopithecus haekeli* Schl. from the Lower Oligocene of the Fayum by kind invitation of Professor J. Kalin, Rector of the University of Fribourg, where these remarkable fossils are now preserved. Finally he paid a short visit to consult Professor V.Vialli of the Museo Grico di Storia Naturale, Milan, on the *Oreopithecus* problem. Mr D. R. Brothwell, University Demonstrator in Physical Anthropology, read a paper on ‘The Bronze Age People of Yorkshire’ at the 1959 (York) meeting of the British Association, and the Director lectured to the Cambridge branch of the Joint Action Group for Understanding among Races on ‘The Biological Consequences of Race Crossing’.

In the course of the year’s work has been carried out on skeletal remains of Neolithic date from Fussel’s Long Barrow, Wilts. (Mr M.L. Blake) and on those of Medieval date from Sidney Sussex and Queens’ Colleges (Mr C.B.Denston), on Middle Minoan III jaws and teeth from Knossos, Crete (Mr H. Graham Carr), and on seventeenth-century jaws and teeth from Farringdon Street, London (Mr H. Graham Carr and Dr Shirley Hughes). At the request of H.M. Office of Works the Director examined a human skeleton found in the crypt of St Mary’s Church, Bury St Edmunds, and thought by some to be that of the Saint, who had been martyred when he was twenty-six. However, it proved unquestionably to have belonged to a female subject aged about forty. Reports on this material are in the press or in preparation.

Publications by members of the Laboratory staff or arising out of its collections which appeared during the year are as follows:

- Among visitors from abroad were Dr Jan Bobr of Cracow, Professor Enver Y. Bostanci of Ankara, and Professor P. C. Mahalanobis, F.R.S., of Calcutta.

13. **Prehistoric Archaeology.** Research was carried out in the Museum on several assemblages...
of archaeological material. The excavation of the sites marked by an asterisk was done with the aid of grants from the Crowther-Benyon bequest. Among the most important were:

*(a) British Upper Palaeolithic cave deposits. Analysis of data obtained by Dr C. B. M. M'Burney from the excavation of five sites in the Mendips, South Wales, and Derbyshire was completed, and a detailed report on three of these was prepared for publication in the Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society.*

*(b) Haua Fteah, Cyrenaica. A three-year programme of statistical analysis of the lithic material was completed and much of the stratigraphical evidence prepared for publication. For work on the animal remains see under paragraph 14.*

*(c) Rock-shelter at Kisese, Tanganyika. A collection of 2nd Intermediate and Late Stone Age material from this deep stratified shelter was brought back by Mr R. R. Inskeep and is now being prepared for publication.*

*(d) Downton, near Salisbury, Wilts. An assemblage of Mesolithic flint implements, one of the first to be obtained from Wessex, was excavated by Mr E. S. Higgs and prepared by him for publication in the Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society.*

*(e) Hurst Fen, Mildenhall, Suffolk. The very large assemblage of pottery, flint implements, and other materials excavated under the direction of Professor J.G.D. Clark during the seasons 1954, 1957-8, were studied and prepared for publication. Impressions of grain on sherds were identified by Dr H. Helbaek of Copenhagen and detailed statistical analyses of the dimensions of certain flint types were initiated by Mr E.S. Higgs.*

*(f) Arreton Down, Isle of Wight. Dr A.Ozanne has completed the study of a large assemblage of Secondary Neolithic flints found in the mound of a Bronze Age barrow, which she helped Mr J. Alexander to excavate for the Ministry of Works in 1956.*

*(g) Barley, Herts. Quantities of pottery, associated archaeological material, and animal and plant remains were excavated from an Early Iron Age farmstead under the direction of Miss M.D.Cra'ster. Plans of subterranean features were prepared before excavation by means of a proton-magnetometer through the co-operation of Dr Aitken of the Research Laboratory for Archaeology and History of Art, Oxford.*

Publications Include:


14. Prehistoric animal remains. Among the chief work carried out by the Honorary Keeper was the examination of animal remains from three cave sites excavated by Dr C. B. M. M'Burney, and the study of micro-fauna from these sites was begun. The analysis of the bone collection from Haaua Fteah cave was continued. The faunal remains from the Hurst Fen Neolithic site were examined. A report on the bones from Arreton Down for Dr Ozanne was completed. A statistical and metrical analysis of the domestic animal bones from Barley is in progress; it is intended that this should provide a standard for comparison with earlier and later prehistoric sites.

15. Haddon Library. Miss Thatcher, the Librarian, reports that during the year 85 books and 48 pamphlets were given, 123 books were bought, and the Library also received the current parts of some 170 periodicals, by gift, exchange, or purchase.

Mrs Brothwell worked for three months, and completed the arrangement of the subject index, sorted pamphlets, and began a catalogue of the monograph series of periodicals. The shortage of shelf space became so acute that the sides of the gallery were built up to the ceiling with bookshelves. This should relieve the pressure for about five years.

During the calendar year 4,876 volumes were borrowed. The Library was more overcrowded than ever, and it became necessary to provide chairs and tables in the Maudslay Hall, which were constantly used.
The Board are indebted for gifts of books and periodicals to:

Academia Sinica, Institute of Ethnology, Taiwan
Academy of Sciences of the U.S.S.R.
American Museum of Natural History
Australian Museum, Canberra
Balfour Library
Bernice P. Bishop Museum, Honolulu
Dr E. Y. Bostangi
Mr D. R. Brothwell
Bulgarian Academy of Sciences
Mr M.C. Burkitt
Cambridge University Librarian
Dr G.H.S. Bushnell
Census and Statistics, Union of South Africa
Dr A. Case
Centro de Estudios Antropologicos, Universidad de Chile
C.I.B.A., Basle
Dr L.C.G. Clarke
Comision Indigenista, Venezuela
Corning Museum of Glass, New York
Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences, Nitra
Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences, Prague
Mr B. W. Dahya
Dr G. E. Daniel
Department of Territories, Commonwealth of Australia
Mr E. H. K. Dibden
Professor M. D. W. Jeffreys
Dr G. E. Daniel
Mr J. F. Dyer
East African Institute of Social Research, Kampala
Mr B. Fagan
Dr H. Field
Professor M. Fortes
French Embassy, Cultural Attache
Funadicion La Salle de Ciencias Naturales, Caracas
Sr. Dr. S. Genoves-Tarazaga
Professor M. Fortes
Mr B. Fagan
East African Institute of Social Research, Kampala
Mr B. Fagan
Mr J. F. Dyer
East African Institute of Social Research, Kampala
Mr B. Fagan
Dr H. Field
Professor M. Fortes
French Embassy, Cultural Attache
Funadicion La Salle de Ciencias Naturales, Caracas
Sr. Dr. S. Genoves-Tarazaga
Dr J.R. Goody
Colonel D.H. Gordon
Gothenburg Museum
Mr J. M. Munn-Rankin
Mr D. F. Robert
Mr. B. W. Dahya
Dr G. E. Daniel
Department of Territories, Commonwealth of Australia
Mr E. H. K. Dibden
Professor M. D. W. Jeffreys
Dr G. E. Daniel
Mr J. F. Dyer
East African Institute of Social Research, Kampala
Mr B. Fagan
Dr H. Field
Professor M. Fortes
French Embassy, Cultural Attache
Funadicion La Salle de Ciencias Naturales, Caracas
Sr. Dr. S. Genoves-Tarazaga
Dr J.R. Goody
Colonel D.H. Gordon
Gothenburg Museum
Mr A. H. Á. Hogg

G.H.S.Bushnell, Chairman
Dorothy Whiteclock
J.G.D. Clark
G.H. Wright
M. Fortes
J. M.C. Toynbee
J. Martin Plumley

GLYNN DANIEL
C.B.M.M.Burney
J.C. Trevor
R. Ronald Poppwall
N.K. Chadwick
G. I. Jones

P. Hunter Blair
E. R. Leach
Rachel Bromwich
J. M. Munn-Rankin
W. H. C. Frend
Joan Liversidge

APPENDIX

LIST OF ACCESSIONS TO THE MUSEUM, 1958-59

Armstrong, Executors of the late Mr A.L.: Palaearctic flint tools from Beds, Limes, and Suffolk (59.452-3, 459); Neolithic flint tools, Cambs (59.451); collection of Mesolithic stone and flint industries from Cornwall, Limes, and Surrey (59.454-8, 468-70); collection of prehistoric stone tools from Fish Hook, Cape Province, Sawmills, S. Rhodesia and Victoria Falls, N. Rhodesia (59.406-2, 463, 464-7).
Barton, Miss B.: Bronze flanged and decorated axe, Burwell, Cambs (59.415).
British School of Archaeology in Jerusalem: Collection of bone and stone tools, stone and pottery vessels, wooden dish and table, basket, ornaments, bricks, and fragments of plaster cult figures. Mesolithic to Iron Age, Jericho (59.102-206).
Brogan, Mrs O.: Prehistoric potsherds and stone tools, Fezzan, Libya (59.218-22).
Burkitt, Mr M. C.: Collection of Palaearctic stone implements from the Dordogne, the Somme gravels, Belgium, Czechoslovakia, Denmark, Holland, Poland, Spain, Switzerland, Algeria, Lebanon, Turkey, S. Africa, and various sites in England (58.251-342, 346-59, 59.316-35). Collection of later stone tools from Belgium, France, Holland, and various sites in England (59.336-88).
Cambridge Atacama Desert Expedition: Textile, Bolivia (59.417); pottery, beads, stone implements, and mummy bundle, Atacama Desert, Chile (59.418-50).
Leavers, Mr A.J.: Copper platter, Ghana (59.217).
Lencz-Corryngham, Miss: Wooden thunderbolt, Tibet (59.410).
Le Strange, Mr H.: Collection of flint tools, Folkestone, Kent, and Hunstanton, Norfolk (59.276-87).
M'Burne, Dr C.B.M.: Acheulean flake tools, Maidenhead, Berks (59.389): Lower Palaeolithic stone tools, Highlands Pit, Reading (59.408).
May, Mr A.McL.: see Collins, Mr A.E.P.
Michaud, Dr J.: Pottery figurine mould, Mexico (59.471).
Pembroke College, the Master and Fellows: Collection of English Pottery, eleventh to eighteenth centuries, Pembroke College, Cambridge (59.66-90); Medieval glazed tiles, Denny Abbey, Cambs (59.91).
Purchased: Stirrup-spouted vase, bowl, and modelled bottle, Peru (58.343-5); effigy jar, figurine and mould, gold nose-ornament, spear-thrower hook, and spindles, Peru (59.400-4, 406).
Sieveking, Miss: Akamba bag with shell decoration, Kenya (59.474).
Simmonds, Mr N. W.: Bow, New Guinea (59.307); Santhal bow and arrows, Bengal, India (59.308-9).
South Australian Museum: (by exchange): Upper and nether millstone, Australia (59.291).
Stockbridge, Alderman W.: Collection of ornaments, Maidive Islands (59.224-31).
de Sturler-Raemakers, Executors of the late Mrs P.: Himyaritic stones, S. Arabia (59.1-5); collection of jewellery, clothes, pottery and metal vessels, tiles, drums and baskets, S. Arabia (59.6-65).
Thompson, Mr J.E.S.: Late Classic potsherds, British Honduras (59.409).
White, Mrs A.: Two embroidered caps, Yugoslavia (59.259); collection of bags, clothing, baskets, copper pots, toys, musical instruments, painted wooden figure and Chinese cups with basket sheaths, Burma (59.266-74, 292-7).
Wilkerson, Mr J. C.: Bronze Age and Romano-British potsherds from a barrow, Melbourn, Cambs (59.223, 310-15).